#### No. 48451-**O**

#### I. INTRODUCTION

This case presents to the Court a question that could affect the future of how storage businesses auction off the contents of units where owners are in arrears in payments. Currently, the practice is to leave the unit undisturbed until the auction. Buyers are assured that, if there is anything of value inside, it has not been pilfered or removed. Buyers bid on the unit hoping that it contains valuable items. After the sale, the buyer has 48 hours to remove the contents. RCW 19.150.060 protects the renter from losing irreplaceable personal items by authorizing the sale of all items except for personal papers and photos, which must be kept for 6 months and returned to the owner if possible.

The Respondent, "Public Storage" sold the contents of Mr. Howard's unit because he was in arrears on rent. Per policy, it sold the personal papers and photographs in the unit along with all of the rest of the contents. Public storage claims that it asks buyers to return personal papers if they find any, and that, by doing this, they are not running afoul of the law. Mr. Howard was granted an Order for replevin. It was a pyrrhic victory, as Public Storage maintained that it was not in possession of the items, but had relied on the buyer to return any that were found.

Public Storage moved for summary judgment. It alleged that there were no photos or papers in the unit and pointed to language in its contract waiving liability except for willful violation of the law. Superior Court Judge Hull granted the summary judgment motion on all causes of action.

1

#### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The Superior Court erred in finding that there was no genuine issue of material fact as to whether Mr. Howard's unit contained personal photographs and personal papers, property protected under RCW 19.150.060 (3) and (5)
- 2. The Superior Court erred by interpreting the statutory language of RCW 19.150.060 (3) and (5) as allowing Public Storage to sell a client's personal property and photographs.
- 3. The Judge erred in finding that a clause in Public Storage's contract which disclaimed liability except in cases of willful injury or willful violation of law applied to release Public Storage from willfully violating RCW 19.150.060 (3) and (5)
- 4. The Superior Court erred when analyzing the contract by determining that the analysis was ripe for summary judgment when there was a significant portion of the contract which had not been presented, and in reading section 6 to be a release of all liability when the following section excepted willful violations of law.
- 5. The Superior Court erred in dismissing Mr. Howard's claim for replevin on summary judgment when a prior order in the case, from another Superior Court Judge had granted the relief sought.

#### III. APPELLANT'S STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether a genuine issue of material fact exists as to whether Mr. Howard's unit contained personal photographs and personal papers, property protected under RCW 19.150.060 (3) and (5) where Mr. Howard has testified that he placed this property in the unit, and no other admissible evidence in the record contradicts his testimony.
- 2. Whether the statutory language of RCW 19.150.060 (3) and (5), which prohibits the sale of personal papers and personal photographs by a public storage business when the contents of a storage unit are sold is violated when a public storage business sells a client's personal property and photographs at auction and relies on the buyer to locate and voluntarily return any such property.
- 3. Whether a clause in a contract which disclaims liability except in cases of willful injury or willful violation of law applies to release

a public storage business from willfully violating RCW 19.150.060 (3) and (5)

- 4. Whether the issue is ripe for summary judgment where the Court is asked to rule on the legal interpretation of a contract, but the full contract is not presented to the Court and the missing portions are relevant to the interpretation of the clause at issue.
- 5. Whether, when interpreting a contract which includes two liability waiver clauses, one with a specific exception, the Court should interpret the contract in a way so as to give meaning to the specific exception.
- 6. Whether summary judgment is appropriate on a claim for replevin where there has been a prior order granting the replevin in the case.

#### IV. APPELLANT'S STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent, Public Storage, in the business of maintaining and renting storage units to customers. Mr. Howard, the Appellant, was a customer of the Public Storage in 2014 and 2015, renting a storage unit pursuant to a rental agreement. (CP 147-148). The agreement is an exhibit to the Declaration of Hunter, an employee of Public Storage. (CP 200) Mr. Howard signed up for an auto-pay process to pay Public Storage, drawing funds from his account through a debit card. (CP 147-148) He placed items in the storage facility, which included personal photographs and personal papers, irreplaceable items dear to himself and his family for their sentimental value. Mr. Howard's debit card was cancelled by his bank, resulting in the auto-payments no longer being made to Public Storage. Mr. Howard was unaware that Public Storage was not receiving payments until after February 23, 2015. (CP 167)

Public Storage had a statutory duty imposed by Washington Statutory law, RCW 19.150.060 to preserve photographs and personal papers for 6 months after the sale of the personal property in the storage unit, and to return that property to Mr. Howard. (CP 149, 158) Public Storage auctioned all of the personal property in the storage unit, including the personal papers and photographs on or about February 23, 2015, for a total of \$60.00. (CP 148, 157) Within days of the sale, Mr. Howard spoke with Public Storage employees and management, attempting to retrieve his photographs and personal papers from Public Storage, which was required, under Washington Statutory law to maintain these items for six months after a sale. (CP 167) The management official on site (Ms. Hunter) refused to give Mr. Howard any information about the identity of the person who had purchased the property, and was not able to produce any of Mr. Howard's personal papers or photographs. (CP 167) Mr. Howard hired a lawyer, who wrote a letter to Public Storage and hand delivered it to the Public Storage employee on March 11, 2015. (CP 172) In the letter, the attorney explained Washington Code section 19.150.060, and asked Public Storage to disclose the name and contact information for the buyer so that Mr. Howard could attempt to mitigate his loss by contacting the buyer and trying to negotiate the re-purchase of his property. (CP 172) Public Storage did not respond to the March 11<sup>th</sup> letter. Mr. Howard sued for replevin and obtained an Order on April 3, 2015, from Judge Forbes, requiring Public Storage to return any of Mr.

4

Howard's personal papers or photographs should it come into possession of the property. Public Storage has not returned anything to Mr. Howard to date. (CP 140, 218) Mr. Howard served discovery requests upon Public Storage, requesting the identification of the person who it claims purchased his property. Public Storage refused to identify this individual, citing constitutional privacy grounds. (CP 245)

Public Storage moved for Summary Judgment on all causes of action, including the replevin action. Mr. Howard also moved for summary judgment, asking the Court to recognize that the sale of the photographs and papers was prohibited, specifically, by RCW 19.150.060 (3) and (5). The Court denied Mr. Howard's motion and granted summary judgment to Public Storage on all claims. Mr. Howard timely appealed.

#### **V. STANDARD OF REVIEW**

In this appeal, the Appellant is asking the Court to review an Order granting Summary judgment on all of Mr. Howard's claims against the Respondent. Summary judgment is appropriate "if the pleadings, depositions, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." CR 56(c). *Herskovits v. Group Health Coop.*, 99 Wash.2d 609, 613, 664 P.2d 474 (1983);*Wilson v. Steinbach*, 98 Wash.2d 434, 437, 656 P.2d 1030 (1982).

On summary judgment motion, the reviewing court takes the position of the trial court, assuming facts most favorable to the nonmoving party. Wilson v. Steinbach, supra at 437, 656 P.2d 1030; Highline Sch. Dist. 401 v. Port of Seattle, 87 Wash.2d 6, 15, 548 P.2d 1085 (1976); Yakima Fruit & Cold Storage Co. v. Central Heating & Plumbing Co., 81 Wash.2d 528, 503 P.2d 108 (1972); Wood v. Seattle, 57 Wash.2d 469, 473, 358 P.2d 140 (1960). The burden is on the moving party, in the original motion for Summary Judgment to prove there is no genuine issue as to a fact which could influence the outcome at trial. Jacobsen v. State, 89 Wash.2d 104, 108, 569 P.2d 1152 (1977). See also Klinke v. Famous Recipe Fried Chicken, Inc., 94 Wash.2d 255, 256-57, 616 P.2d 644 (1980) (summary judgment is not appropriate when reasonable minds might reach different conclusions); Rounds v. Union Bankers Ins. Co., 22 Wash.App. 613, 617, 590 P.2d 1286 (1979) (if there is a genuine issue of credibility, summary judgment should be denied).

The Appellate Court reviews summary judgment orders de novo. *Ranger Ins. Co. v. Pierce County*, 164 Wn.2d 545, 552, 192 P.3d 886 (2008). An order granting summary judgment will be affirmed only if, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, there are no genuine issues of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c); *Ranger*, 164 Wn.2d at 552.

6

#### VI. ARGUMENT FOR REVERSAL

A. The record shows that Mr. Howard placed in his public storage unit included personal papers and personal photographs, items protected under RCW 19.150.060 (3) and (5), which prohibits a storage facility from selling personal photographs and personal papers.

In the record, Mr. Howard testifies, in his declaration, that the items that he stored in the Respondent's public storage unit included personal papers and personal photographs. (CP 167) This should have been sufficient for the Court to have found that there was a genuine issue of material fact as to whether the storage unit actually contained property protected under RCW 19.150.060 (3) and (5). In fact, earlier in this case, Mr. Howard's declaration was considered sufficient to support an order of replevin for those same items. (CP 140) It appears that, despite this evidence and the law of the case established by Judge Forbes' previous Order, the Court found that Mr. Howard did not actually have any of the items he describes in his declaration in the storage facility. The Appellate Court should recognize that, in fact, not only did the record contain clear evidence that these items were in the storage unit, but the record contained no admissible evidence to the contrary. Public Storage alleged, in its Answer, that Mr. Howard had not stored the items he claimed to have stored in his storage unit. Respondent's argument, which appears to have been accepted by the Court was that, since there were no protected items, Respondent did not breach its duty under the statute to refrain from selling the items. Even if there was some evidence to support Respondent's

7

position, this would have only presented a genuine issue of material fact, and precluded summary judgment. The record, however, is devoid of any actual admissible evidence to support Respondent's claim. The Court is not supposed to consider inadmissible evidence when reviewing a summary judgment. CR 56(e); see also Dunlap v. Wayne, 105 Wn.2d 529, 535, 716 P.2d 842 (1986). It is undisputed that none of Respondent's employees or witnesses actually knows what was in Mr. Howard's storage facility. Ms. Joni Hunter, the manager at Public Storage, has stated, in her declaration that no employee of public storage was ever allowed to enter a storage facility. (CP 203) Public storage has steadfastly refused to identify the only person besides Mr. Howard, who has actually seen the inside of unit 302 while Mr. Howard's belongings were in it, the person who purchased it at auction. Public Storage's attorney has objected to requests for this information, stating that to produce it would violate the U.S. and Washington constitutions:

7
8
9 INTERROGATORY NO. 12: Please identify the person or entity who purchased Plaintiff's personal property from Defendant. Please include full legal name, address, phone number, and any and all other information which would identify the person or entity that Defendant has in its possession.
1
1 ANSWER:
2 Objection. The information sought violates the purchaser's right to privacy under the U.S. Constitution and the Washington State Constitution.
4

The only evidence that Public storage has offered, relating to what was or was not in unit 302 is hearsay. Public Storage's attorney, who represented the Respondent in the Superior Court action, Ms. Nelson, has

submitted a declaration stating that she spoke with the purchaser, who she will not identify, and that he told her that there were no personal papers or photographs in the items he purchased from unit 302. (CP 218) Ms. Hunter, the Respondent's employee, offers double hearsay, stating that she spoke with Mr. Clark (a district manager for Public Storage) and that he called the purchaser (who she refused to identify) who then told him that there were no personal papers or photographs in the unit. (CP 200) The Washington evidence rule on hearsay is simple. Hearsay, a statement made by a declarant who is not the witness, offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted, is not admissible. ER 802 Ms. Nelson and Ms. Hunter are offering the statement of an unidentified declarant, the purchaser, to prove the truth of the matter asserted in the alleged statement, that Mr. Howard did not have any personal effects in unit 302. This is a classic example of why hearsay is not admissible. The purchaser has every reason to lie, not only because he is a long-time customer of the Respondent's auctions of former clients' personal property, and because he has clearly destroyed the irreplaceable photos and personal papers that Mr. Howard placed in the storage unit, but a ruling from the Court finding that the procedures for auction (guaranteeing that the purchaser is the first one to have access to the items in the unit) violate RCW 19.150.060 (3) and (5 would require the Public Storage facilities of the State to sift through the items for sale before selling them. The titillating allure of purchasing a unit to which nobody has ever had access before the buyer is that it may

9

contain valuable items worth more than what the buyer paid for the unit. If employees went through each unit before sale, there could be no guarantee that valuable items were not removed prior to sale, and the integrity of these auctions would be destroyed.

Without any admissible evidence in the record to contradict Mr. Howard's testimony as to the contents of the storage unit, we are left with an undisputed record with no genuine issue of material fact. For the purposes of this summary judgment motion, the unit contained the following items:

- 3. I placed personal property in the storage unit including the following items, which are irreplaceable photographs and documents:
  - a) Family photos of my wife taken in childhood, and not stored in any other medium:
  - b) Family photos of my family which are not stored in any other medium;
  - c) VHS and DVD videos of my family which are not stored in any other medium;
  - A trophy that my daughter daughter won in 2007 for outstanding softball performance from Pierce College;
  - e) Other personal photos, videos, and documents of great importance to family.

The record in this case is clear and undisputed. Storage unit 302 contained items which fall within the protection of RCW 19.150.060 (3) and (5), "personal papers and personal photographs." The Court's finding

<sup>(</sup>CP 167)

that there was no such property in the unit, and the Order granting summary judgment on this basis should be reversed.

> B. Public Storage had a statutory duty, under RCW 19.150.060, to Mr. Howard, which it breached, by selling the entire content of Mr. Howard's storage container to a third party without first removing personal papers and photographs. The Court therefore erred in dismissing Mr. Howard's claims for conversion, negligence, and conspiracy.

The Respondent has admitted, in the Answer, that RCW 19.150.060 placed upon it a statutory duty to preserve photographs and personal papers.

4.2 Defendants Public Storage owed Plaintiff a duty, imposed by Washington statutory law, to preserve photographs and personal papers for 6 months after the sale of the personal property in his storage unit and to return that property to him.

(CP 149)

4.2 In answer to Paragraph 4.2 of Plaintiff's Amended Complaint, Public Storage admits that it had a statutory duty, but specifically denies that plaintiff had such photographs and personal papers.

#### (CP 158)

It is important to note that RCW 19.150.060 has two separate duties that it places on storage facility owners. It not only requires that the storage facility maintain the personal papers and photographs for six months after a sale, but it actually prohibits the storage facility from selling the items in the first place "(3) That all the property, **other than personal papers**  and personal photographs, may be sold" It is undisputed in the record that Public Storage has a policy of prohibiting its employees from ever entering a storage space being rented by a customer. (CP 200) When Public Storage auctions off the contents of a storage unit under this policy, it sells ALL of the items in the storage unit. This necessarily includes any personal papers or photographs that may be in it. This policy is a willful and knowing violation of the first duty imposed by the statute. If no employee of Public Storage ever looks into a storage unit before it is sold, and the entire contents are sold, then any time there are personal papers or photographs inside a storage unit that is auctioned off, a violation will have occurred.

The second breach of duty necessarily caused by this intentional policy and practice is that, once all of the property is sold, it is impossible for the seller, Public Storage, to maintain personal papers and photographs for six months so that they can be returned to the customer. The first and only person to enter the storage space is the purchaser, who has 48 hours to clear out all of the items inside. (CP 200) Public Storage relies on the purchaser, then, to return anything that might be personal photos or papers. This policy is a willful and obvious side-stepping of the duty to protect those types of items. Public Storage cannot simply avoid its obligations under the law by saying it was the customer's duty to clearly mark such items, and the purchaser's duty to return them after purchase. The statute specifically imposes the affirmative duty NOT to sell such items and affirmative duty to keep those items for six months upon the storage facility, not the customer and not the purchaser.

Applying the law to the undisputed facts of this case leaves us with only one possible conclusion. In a case where personal papers and personal photographs were stored in a public storage unit, and that unit is sold at auction, Public Storage's policies and practices result, necessarily, in the violation of the first duty imposed by the statute, and therefore makes the execution the second statutory duty imposed impossible. Public storage violates the clear language, the intent, the public policy considerations, and the spirit of RCW 19.150.060 with each and every auction, every time there is a photo or one scrap of personal paper sold with the contents of a storage unit under its current policies.

> C. Because Public Storage willfully violated Washington statutory law, its contract provision which excepts it for liability for its own negligence, or for conversion, except in cases of <u>willful injury or willful violation of law</u>, does not act to bar Plaintiff's claims.

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