No. 48451-0-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II,
FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ROBERT HOWARD,

Appellant,

v.

PSCC, INC. d/b/a PUBLIC STORAGE; SHURGARD STORAGE
CENTERS, LLC d/b/a PUBLIC STORAGE,

Respondent,

and

JOHN DOE,

Defendant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT PUBLIC STORAGE

Emmelyn M. Hart, WSBA #28820
Kathleen A. Nelson, WSBA #22826
LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP
1111 Third Avenue, Suite 2700
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 436-2020
Attorneys for Respondent Public Storage

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

not properly before us.”).

⁴ Although Howard asserts the trial court erred by dismissing his conspiracy claim, he offers no argument to justify reversing that decision. Br. of Appellant at 11. The Court need not consider that unsupported argument. *Beal*, 134 Wn.2d at 777. Howard apparently now recognizes his error; namely, that he cannot sue a good faith purchaser of goods sold at auction even if Public Storage failed to comply with the Act. RCW 19.150.110.

“Released Claims”). Occupant waives any rights of recovery against Owner or Owner’s Agents from the Released claims[.].

CP 40 (emphasis in original). Enforcement of these provisions rendered Howard’s negligence and conversion claims unenforceable as a matter of law.

The general rule in Washington is that exculpatory clauses are enforceable unless: (1) they violate public policy, or (2) the negligent act falls greatly below the standard established by law for protection of others, or (3) they are inconspicuous. *Vodopest v. MacGregor*, 128 Wn.2d 840, 848, 913 P.2d 779 (1996); *Eifler v. Shurgard Capital Mgmt. Corp.*, 71 Wn. App. 684, 690, 861 P.2d 1071 (1993). Here, Howard essentially concedes that neither (2) nor (3) of the above standards is applicable by failing to argue for their application here. Thus, the only issue is whether enforcement of the release would violate public policy. *See Scott v. Pac. W. Mt. Resort*, 119 Wn.2d 484, 834 P.2d 6 (1992).

The factors to be considered in determining whether an exculpatory clause violates public policy were set forth first by the California Supreme Court and then later adopted in Washington in *Wagenblast v. Odessa Sch. Dist.*, 110 Wn. 2d 845, 851-51, 758 P.2d 968 (1988). Paraphrased, those six factors consider

whether:

(1) the agreement concerns an endeavor of a type generally thought suitable for public regulation; (2) the party seeking exculpation is engaged in performing a service of great importance to the public, often one of practical necessity; (3) the party provides the service to any member of the public or to any member coming within established standards; (4) there is a decisive inequality of bargaining power between the parties; (5) the release is a standardized adhesion contract that makes no provision whereby a purchaser may pay additional reasonable fees and obtain protection against negligence; and (6) the party seeking to invoke the release has control over the person or property of the person seeking the service.

See Wagenblast, 110 Wn.2d at 851-52 (citing *Tunkl v. Regents of the Univ. of California*, 60 Cal. 2d 92, 32 Cal. Rptr. 33, 383 P.2d 441 (1963) (signposts added for clarity)). Courts generally use these factors as a balancing test: the more factors present, the more likely the agreement will be declared invalid on public policy grounds. *Id.* at 972.

Here, Howard had the burden to demonstrate the *Wagenblast* factors dictated that the limitation clause in the Agreement violated Washington's public policy. *See, e.g., Am. Nursery Prods. v. Indian Wells Orchards*, 115 Wn.2d 217, 797 P.2d 477 (1990); *Shields v. Sta-Fit, Inc.*, 79 Wn. App. 584, 903 P.2d 525

(1995). He did not do so.⁵

Neither the first nor the second *Wagenblast* factor is present here. The self-storage industry is not heavily regulated. Lien and foreclosure requirements are codified in the Act; however, mere codification of a small, narrow aspect of a particular business does not equate to public regulation of the industry. Moreover, the self-storage industry is not a service of great public importance, or a matter of practical necessity. *Taylor v. Public Storage*, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 126967 (W.D. Wash. Sept. 6, 2012) (analyzing identical contract language, including paragraph 7, and enforcing exculpatory agreement).

Courts have found exculpatory agreements to be void as against public policy where essential public services are involved; namely, hospitals, housing, public utilities, and public education. *Shields*, 79 Wn. App. at 589 (citations omitted). A self-storage facility does not provide “essential public services.” It merely provides a convenience for a portion of the public, including those in-transit between housing who need to temporarily store some of their personal possessions. *Taylor*, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS.

⁵ Public Storage concedes the third *Wagenblast* factor is present because it provides self-storage units to the public; however, it does not admit the five remaining factors.

The fourth and fifth *Wagenblast* factors are likewise not present. There was no inequality of bargaining strength. Howard had other options for storing his possessions. For example, he could have stored his property with a different self-storage company. He also could have stored his possessions with his family or friends. He could have walked away without renting a unit from Public Storage.

The Agreement Howard signed was not a contract of adhesion because Public Storage encouraged him to insure his property and even made available insurance at its facility. Under similar facts, this Court held in *Eifler* that a contract of adhesion did not exist because the tenant was not deprived of a fair opportunity to protect the value of his property. 71 Wn. App. at 694.

The same analysis applies here. The Agreement that Howard signed was not a contract of adhesion and did not violate public policy in Washington because Public Storage emphatically offered Howard the opportunity to purchase insurance from a third-party insurer and made clear when he signed the Agreement that he had other insurance options available. CP 40 (paragraph 6). The Agreement that Howard signed stated, in bold, capital letters: **“ALL PERSONAL PROPERTY IS STORED BY OCCUPANT AT**

OCCUPANT'S SOLE RISK." *Id.* (emphasis in original). It also said:

. . . OWNER DOES NOT PROVIDE ANY TYPE OF INSURANCE WHICH WOULD PROTECT THE OCCUPANT'S PERSONAL PROPERTY FROM LOSS BY FIRE, THEFT, OR ANY OTHER CASUALTY LOSS. IT IS THE OCCUPANT'S RESPONSIBILITY TO PROVIDE SUCH INSURANCE. To the extent Occupant's insurance lapses or Occupant does not obtain insurance coverage for the full value of Occupant's personal property stored in the Premises, Occupant agrees Occupant will personally assume the risk of all loss. **Owner and Owner's agents . . . will not be responsible for, and Occupant hereby releases Owner . . . from any responsibility for, any loss, liability, claim, expense or damage to property that could have been insured (including without limitation any Loss arising from the active or passive acts, omission or negligence of Owner[.]**

Id. (emphasis in original). The addendum that Howard signed stated that Public Storage would not be responsible for loss to Howard's property, that Public Storage was not providing insurance that would cover loss, and that Howard could purchase insurance from a third-party insurer or elsewhere. CP 164. The addendum also contained an application for insurance showing that Howard purchased \$3,000 in coverage. *Id.* Under these circumstances, a contract of adhesion depriving Howard of a fair opportunity to protect the value of his property does not exist. *See Eifler*, 71 Wn. App. at 694. But even assuming *arguendo* the Agreement was an adhesion contract, the true concern remains the disparate

bargaining power. *Shields*, 79 Wn. App. at 590. And that in turn is related to the essential nature of the services being provided. Again, as detailed above, self-storage is not essential and the bargaining power is not so disparate as to militate against enforcement of the Agreement.

The final *Wagenblast* factor is also not present. Arguably, Howard's property was placed under the control of Public Storage when Howard placed his property in the unit. But he voluntarily submitted to that control. This is not like the school, the hospital, housing or other necessary public services. *Shields*, 79 Wn. App. at 590. Other storage options were available to Howard, but he chose not to pursue them.

Only one of the six *Wagenblast* factors is arguably present in this case. As a result, public policy does not militate against enforcement of the Agreement. The trial court properly enforced the limitation of liability clause contained in the Agreement. Summary judgment was appropriate.

2. Howard bargained for and was bound by an agreement that expressly created additional rights, duties, and obligations on the parties

Howard also argues the trial court erred by dismissing his claims because Public Storage breached its statutory duty by failing

to retain his personal property for six months post-auction and by selling it in violation of RCW 19.150.060. Br. of Appellant at 11-13. He further contends the exculpatory clause is invalid because Public Storage is still liable pursuant to the Agreement for losses caused by willful violations of the law. *Id.* at 16.

Howard misses the mark. He bargained for and was bound by the terms of the Agreement, which created additional rights, duties, and obligations for himself and for Public Storage.

For example, paragraph 3(a) of the Agreement imposes additional obligations on Public Storage tenants by requiring them to keep any personal items and personal effects in clearly labeled boxes to avoid the potential disposal of those items at auction:

If Occupant is still in default forth-two (42) days after the date when Rent and/or other charges became due, the Owner may enforce the lien and the personal property stored in the Premises (except boxes clearly labeled “personal papers” and/or “personal effects”) may be sold or otherwise disposed of to satisfy the lien.

Id. (emphasis in original). Howard did not present evidence that he kept his personal items and personal effects in clearly labeled boxes as the Agreement required.

Paragraph 5 of the Agreement strongly discourages Public Storage tenants from storing personal items in their units.

Paragraph 5 states:

USE OF PREMISES AND PROPERTY AND COMPLIANCE WITH LAW **Occupant acknowledges and agrees that the Premises and the Property are not suitable for the storage of heirlooms or precious, invaluable, or irreplaceable property,** such as, but not limited to, books, records, writings, contracts, documents personalized or other DVDs or videos, works of art, subjects for which no immediate resale market exists, objects which are claimed to have special or emotional value and records or receipts relating to the stored goods.

CP 40 (emphasis in original).

Public Storage is statutorily entitled to create additional obligations in the Agreement. RCW 19.150.140 specifically permits parties to create “additional rights, duties, and obligations which do not conflict with [the Act].” Here, paragraph 3(a) of the Agreement unequivocally *imposed an affirmative duty on Howard* to clearly label boxes as personal papers or personal effects to avoid their sale if he defaulted on his rental payments. CP 40. This duty is consistent with paragraph 5 discouraging the storage of such property. *Id.* Despite the duty articulated in paragraph 3 and reinforced in paragraph 5, Howard admits he did not clearly label any boxes as personal papers or personal effects to prevent their sale at auction.

The requirement that a tenant clearly label his or her

personal papers and personal effects is for the protection of both the tenant and Public Storage. It would be unduly burdensome and nearly impossible for Public Storage employees to sift through boxes of its tenant's abandoned property following a default. It would also be nearly impossible for Public Storage employees to search for papers and effects and make determinations about the items that may be personal to the defaulting tenant. Any such requirement would promote frivolous allegations of mishandling and theft by Public Storage and would increase the risk of potential on-site accidents as many storage spaces are quite large and carry heavy items. Howard understands this and has acknowledged the potential risk to Public Storage if its employees were required to go through each unit before sale. Br. of Appellant at 10. For these reasons, Public Storage contractually requires its tenants to clearly label any boxes the tenant considers personal.

RCW 19.150.060 does not impose a duty upon self-storage facilities to inspect each unit for personal papers and photographs. Conspicuously absent from the statute is any guidance on how "personal papers" are to be identified and by whom. Howard cannot point to any language in the statute or in the case law placing the burden of identifying such information on the self-

storage facility. “[I]f a statute is silent on an issue, [courts] generally decline to read into the statute what is not there.” *Birgen v. Dep’t of Labor & Indus.*, 186 Wn. App. 851, 859, 347 P.3d 503 (2015). *See also, Spokane Research v. City of Spokane*, 155 Wn.2d 89, 103, 117 P.3d 1117 (2005) (declining to read into a statute what was not there).

Far from being a “willful and knowing violation” of the statute, Public Storage’s common-sense policy of relying on its tenant to clearly label “personal papers” and “personal effects” is a reasonable and faithful implementation of RCW 19.150.060. It places the burden of identifying personal papers and effects on the person most knowledgeable about the contents: the tenant. Washington courts carefully protect the principle of freedom to contract and establish the terms of the contract. *GMAC v. Everett Chevrolet, Inc.*, 179 Wn. App. 126, 147, 317 P.3d 1074 (2014). Because RCW 19.150.060 does not impose a duty on Public Storage to identify personal papers, the parties were free to agree upon the proper allocation of responsibility. The Agreement allocated that responsibility to Howard.

The trial court properly enforced the terms of Howard’s agreement with Public Storage, including the additional provisions

for which Howard bargained. Summary judgment was appropriate.

3. Howard misrepresents the outcome of the replevin proceedings

Howard's final argument is that he prevailed on his replevin cause of action and the resulting order became the "law of the case" precluding summary judgment in Public Storage's favor. Br. of Appellant at 19. He contends the trial court erred by re-litigating the claim. *Id.* Howard misrepresents the nature of the trial court's earlier order and fails to recognize that he never demonstrated Public Storage unlawfully deprived him of his personal property.

The order the trial court entered after the show cause proceeding did *not* grant his request for replevin. CP 50-53. Instead, the court issued an amended order to show cause. *Id.* It did not make any findings of fact or conclusions of law and simply ordered Public Storage to return Howard's personal effects if they came into its possession. *Id.* More critically, the court struck through: (1) the title of the order as originally proposed; (2) the list of property Howard claimed was at issue; (3) the statement about the property's location; and (4) the statement that the sale violated RCW 19.150.060. *Id.*

Washington's replevin statute lists the requirements of an

order awarding possession. An order awarding possession shall:

(a) State that a show cause hearing was held; (b) describe the property and its location; (c) direct the sheriff to take possession of the property and put the plaintiff in possession as provided in this chapter; (d) contain a notice to the defendant that failure to turn over possession of the property to the sheriff may subject the defendant to being held in contempt of court upon application to the court by the plaintiff without further notice; (e) if deemed necessary, direct the sheriff to break and enter a building or enclosure to obtain possession of the property if it is concealed in the building or enclosure; and (f) be signed by the judge or commissioner.

RCW 7.64.035(2). The court's order failed to satisfy the requirements of the replevin statute because it did not contain the mandatory language. Howard did not prevail on his replevin claim as he now asserts. As a result, the claim remained vulnerable to summary disposition.

Howard never proved that Public Storage wrongfully detained his personal property. Public Storage submitted evidence that it did not have possession of Howard's personal property and that it had never come into possession of that property. Howard also did not submit any evidence that his property was wrongfully detained. The purchaser of Howard's unit confirmed that there was no personal property in Howard's unit. CP 32, 43. Public Storage never received any personal property of Howard's back from the

purchaser of the unit. Consequently, the trial court did not err by granting summary judgment to Public Storage.

The trial court did not err by granting summary judgment to Public Storage on Howard's replevin claim. Howard did not prevail on the claim such that the order at issue became the law of the case. He also failed to present evidence that Public Storage unlawfully detained his personal property. The claim remained ripe for summary determination. The trial court properly dismissed it as a matter of law. This Court should affirm.

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